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The church of St. Nikolaos the Younger is located on private property,! in the north
of Salamis, at the location known as “Gouva tou Batsi” or “Batsi”.2 The late professor
Demetrios Pallas, a native of the island, provided in 1988 a cursory description of the
church within the context of his studies on the topography of the area3 The church
is also referenced in a book by another native of Salamis, Mr. Tsamiles, who provides
an overview of the churches on the island.# This monument, therefore, is essentially
unknown to contemporary scholarly research and its corresponding bibliography.

It is a single-chamber church (dimensions: 7,90 meters length x 3,00 meters width)
with internal vaultings and three peaked lowered arches and is covered externally by a
pitched and shingled roof (fig.1). An entrance can be found on the west face. The Bema,
disproportionately large in comparison to the rest of the church, is signified by the east-
ernmost arch and is separated with a constructed templum/iconostasis. (fig.2) The Sanc-
tuary Door is framed by two marble pilasters, which have been repurposed from an uni-
dentified ancient building. The remaining two arches, with their voussoirs on prominent
display, demarcate three uneven sections within the main church. The second arch is at a
distance of 2,20 meters from the templum, while the third is separated from the second
by 90cm. On the north and south walls, at the bases of the arches and in the areas between
them, the masonry is visible to a certain height - the rest is covered by later coatings.
However, those segments that are visible preserve and display the dry stone walls with
sections of brick. Impost blocks from ancient columns have been utilized as the base for
the construction of the northeast and southwest arches of the main church, while corre-

spondingly, a column plinth has been placed upside-down in the southeast arch.

1. It is located on property owned by the family of the great Byzantinologist Demetrios Pallas. I
would like to extend my sincere thanks to Mrs. Rena Sophoulaki and Mr. Nikos Pallas for their
invaluable assistance and warm hospitality.

2. The general overview of the monument was the subject of a paper at the 36th Symposium of the
Christian Archaeological Society (20-22./5/2016), Kontopanagou 2016, 65. Special thanks to Mrs.
Marina Papadimitriou, archaeologist at the Ephorate of Antiquities of Western Attica, Piraeus and
the Islands, for her immediate response to my request for a research permit.

3. Pallas 1988, 131.
4. Tsamiles 1999, 118-23.
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The successive interventions to the church, both internal and external, have altered
its original form. A spacious semi-outdoor area has been created on the west side due
to the construction of a wall across the building, which is a meter and a half taller than
the roof of the main church (fig.3). This is a later addition, dated approximately to the
mid-20th century.> The masonry is not visible externally, as it has been covered by lat-
er layers, which hinder any attempts at morphological observations. Within the main
church, the north and south sides, where the arches are located, extend across by 40cm
each, functioning as buttresses. A single-lobed window, constructed with a monolithic
arch without overlying relief, is located in the eastern wall. The main church also features
three rectangular openings, two on the north wall and one on the south, for illumination.

The church under examination at Batsi is the only one on Salamis dedicated to
St. Nikolaos the Younger, also known as the neomartyr Nikolaos of Vounaina, whose
feast day is the 9% of May. He was initially venerated as a local saint in Thessaly, but
his fame subsequently spread to other regions of Greece. Even though churches ded-
icated to this saint existed from as early as the byzantine period, worship did not be-
come widespread wuntil the post-byzantine period, with multiple extant monuments
in Thessaly.6 However, isolated churches dedicated to him are extant throughout
Greece (prefectures of Magnesia, Fthiotida, Fokida et.c.).”

From an architectural point of view, three peaked lowered arches® are prominent
inside the church. This pattern can be often found in monuments of Frankish rule
and, thus, the dating of the monument is placed within this period. However, in order
to date the monument more accurately, the historical conditions prevailing in Sala-
mis have to be taken into consideration. That is to say, it is only during the Catalan
rule, ie. from the 14t century till 1388,° that the reconstruction of monuments and
the redevelopment of settlements in the abandoned lowland and coastal areas, such
as Batsi, took place.l® With the settlement of populations in these areas, agricultural

production began once again to flourish after an extensive period of pirate raids!! and

5. The widening of the church space became necessary in the early modern period, as its initial,
limited dimensions proved insufficient to house the number of pilgrims during the saint’s feast day.

6. Kalousios 1996, 143-76. Sdrolia 2012, 279.

7. Regarding the worship and proliferation of the Saint, see Sofianos, 1972, in passim. Sofianos
19861, 89-91. Sofianos 19862 , 73-136. Sofianos 2004, 36.

8. Peaked lowered arches are observable in monuments from the periods of Venetian and Latin
rule, with multiple variants, see Kourouniotis 1998, 109-11.

9. After 1388, Athens and neighboring Salamis came under the jurisdiction of the Florentines and
the Venetians, experiencing a period of instability and conflict, especially in the coastal regions of
Salamis. See regarding, Miller 1909-1910, 5-7.

10. Pallas 1998, 131.

11. The consequences of pirate activity in the Saronic Gulf are evident in Salamis from the late 12th
c., interrupting a previous period of stable economic activity on the island. It is a period of stagnation,
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general turmoil.l? The founding of the church of St. Nikolaos in the seaside settlement
of Batsi, is directly related to the financial development of the local agriculture in this
period.3 Of course, as it was mentioned earlier, the later layers that cover the masonry
completely on the external face of the church and a large portion of its internal walls do
not offer us any further information. Excavational surveys around the perimeter of the
monument would likely reveal further evidence necessary for documentation.

The frescoes inside the church are limited to the eastern sections of the north
and south walls, between the first and second arches, and to the western face of the
templon. No donor inscription is extant. The remaining surfaces do not exhibit traces
of wall painting, either on the walls or in the arch. Incisions made at seven points in
the Holy of Holies by the archaeological service in the 1970s prove that the space
dedicated to the Bema did not host any sort of wall decoration.!4

Despite the fragmented nature of the decoration, it can be clearly divided into
three phases. The oldest layer, visible on the north and south walls, is covered by
later frescoes (fig. 4). A section of a halo, some brown hair with curls and a forehead
belonging to the earliest phase are extant on the north wall, while on the south wall
we can see sections of three halos of standing figures from the same phase. These fres-
coes can be dated to the initial phase of decoration, and must be dated to the period
in which the monument was constructed.!’> The fragmented and scant initial decora-
tion was most likely due to the transient and uncertain economic development of the

local small landowners. The landowners - donors of churches, already weaker than

mentioned by Michael Choniates, Lampros 1968, 8, 27, 43. During this period, architectural activity
essentially ceases. Regarding pirate activity and its consequences, see Pallas 1988, 124. Herrin 1975,
279. It is worth noting that a reasonable number of middle byzantine monuments survives, denoting
a period of stability and development in the region up to and including the 12th c. The monuments
of the 11th and 12th centuries in Salamis conform to the wider development of the Helladic region
despite pirate activities in the Saronic Gulf, see Aslanides and Pinatsi 1998, 192-3.

12. Salamis was awarded to the Venetians after 1204, however it was ruled de facto by the Latins
due to its close proximity to Athens, with which it shared a similar fate. For Athens during this time
period, see Maria Kazanaki-Lappa 2002, 645-6. However, in 1311 it was restored to the Byzantines.
This resulted in the island becoming a center of conflict, with retaliatory actions being carried out
on its inhabitants by the Venetians and the Catalans. The successive changes in leadership in com-
bination with the pirate raids took a toll on the economy of the island in the 13th and early 14th
centuries. Around 1350, the island was once again dominated by the Catalans, Pallas 1988, 129-31.

13. According to the late D. Pallas, abandoned settlements from other low-lying areas of the island
are dated to the same period, Pallas 1998, 131-32.

14. The incision points are visible, and there exists a related report from the service, which was
made available to us by the owners of the property.

15. Compare a characteristic example of hair similar to the fragment under examination in a Mes-
senian monument from the same period; Messenia also experienced Latin rule. The particular ex-
amples are two military saints, St. Georgios and St. Demetrios in the church of the Savior in Piges:
Kappas 2010, 262-64.
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those of the middle Byzantine period,’® declined towards the end of the 14t cl17 It is
therefore reasonable to assume that they serviced their religious needs by founding
small churches without tending to their wall decoration.!8

The main face of the constructed templon was decorated at a later phase. This dec-
oration has been preserved in reasonably good condition, and conforms to the icono-
graphical program typical of such spaces (fig. 2). The style of the full-body figures,
the enthroned Mary holding Christ, of whose inscription only the epithet “EAeovoa”
survives, the Christ Pantokrator and John the Baptist, allow a dating after the mid-17%
century (fig. 5, 6). The intensive use of lines in the depiction of the face and hair, the
lighting under the eyes with parallel white lines, the stylized depiction of wrinkles on
the forehead and at the base of the nose (fig. 7, 8), the pronounced outlines and the
rough folds of the garments are elements of this century. In addition, belonging to this
decorative phase is the depiction of the venerated saint, St. Nikolaos the Younger,!
whose figure is located on the mnorth wall (fig. 5). Stylistic and inscriptional observations
suggest that this is the work of the same artist. In the depiction under examination, the
artist utilizes the epithet “o Néo¢”® and not ex Bouvaivng/Of Vounaina, which serves
to distinguish him from St. Nikolaos of Myres and is already extant in the earliest de-
pictions of the saint.2! The second epithet is related to the place where the saint was
martyred and is extant for the most part in post-byzantine depictions, perhaps due to
the proliferation of neomartyrs named Nikolaos, such as that of the soldiers or that of
Metsovo. In Batsi he is depicted as a martyr, beardless and with curly hair, an estab-

lished iconographical roposin byzantine and post-byzantine representations.?

16. For the construction of churches on the island in the middle byzantine period, see Aslanides
and Pinatsi 1998, 189-93.

17. The changes in economic policy and the movement of populations took a financial toll on
the minor landowners, Laiou-Thomadaki 1987, 176-79, 262-93. Regarding the small landowner-
based economy and the policies of concessions, which burdened small producers, see. Laiou and
Morrisson 2011, 241-56, 291-94.

18. Similar fragmentary decoration is extant in other churches of the same period on Salamis, such
as St. Georgios and St. Charalambos in Kampoli in the south of the island, Tsamiles 1999, 94, 96-7.

19. For the iconography of St. Nikolaos the Younger, see Sofianos 1986, mainly 89-91. Sofianos 19862,
73-136, pls. I-M. Popovska-Korobar 2006, 105-18. Mavropoulou-Tsioumi and Tabaki 2006, 101-15.

20. As a rule, in the 17th c. the depictions of St. Nikolaos with the epithet “o Néog” depict St.
Nikolaos of Vounaina. Actually, in many cases there is a misunderstanding with the iconography
of St. Nikolaos the Soldier. Regarding the similar depictions and the iconography of St Nikolaos
the Younger in the 17th c., see Karaberidi, 209, 250, note 1957. Sdrolia 2012, 279. Regarding St.
Nikolaos the Soldier, see Constantinides 1993, 35-54, pls 1-2.

21. In monuments from the early 14th century: in Staro Nagoricino (Todic 1993, 8, fig. 73), in Gracanica
(2ivkovic 1989, pl. V) etc. Regarding early depictions of the saint, see Popovska-Korobar 2006, 107-17.

22. He is depicted as a martyr already from the Byzantine period, see for example at Protato (13th
c.): Fousteris and Toutos 2010, 56. Also see: the old Catholicon of the Monastery of the Trasnfigu-
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Concluding the study of the wall decorations, the final fresco in the church under
examination is the depiction of St. Nikolaos of Myres of Lycia, located on the west of
the venerated saint (north wall) (fig. 9). This saint is depicted full-bodied following
the typical iconographical template.

The overpaintings evident on its garments and hands make the task of dating the
figure difficult. Despite its stylized facial features, such as the beard, hair and ears, the
figure’s outline is disrupted. (fig.10). Its piercing gaze and artistic configuration, with
white details under the eyes, are hallmarks of works dated, at the latest, up to 1600.

Finally, the inscribed memories (evBvpiceic) on the dark-colored background on
either side of the figure of St. Nikolaos of Myres, are worth mentioning. Although
they are difficult to discern, we can observe the years 14..., 162.., 164 , 1700, 1738,
1742, 17723 These datings were written alongside the names of clerics who per-
formed rites within the church, and a baptism. Phonetic spelling and multiple errors
characterize the writing of the scribes who inscribed these names. At certain points,
the already difficult task of reading the inscribed information is compounded by in-
terventions with blue-colored text.

These datings are an indirect testimony to the consistent usage of the church as
a place of worship of St. Nikolaos the Younger, an element also evident through the
successive phases of wall decoration. This private church continues today to be a
particularly popular place of worship for the saint on the island. Modern traditions
regarding the existence at this location of a small monastic complex remain unfound-

ed due to the lack of historical and archaeological evidence.

ration of Meteora (1483), Georgitsoyanni 1992, 250-51, pl. 78 and St. Nikolaos Anapausas (1527),
Sofianos and Tsigaridas 2003, 86, with further examples.

23. Invaluable assistance for the reading of these inscriptions was provided by earlier readings
carried out by the amateur historians of the area, Tsamiles 1999, 122.
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O NAOZ TOY ATIOY NIKOAAOY TOY NEOY XTH ZAAAMINA:
IMPQTEX TAPATHPHXEIX

In memoriam Ipnyopiov I. Mntotcdvny

TIEPIAHWH

Y10 Popeio TEpa ™G ZoAapivac ot Béon «JovPa Tov Mmatolk» 1 «Mmatok» o vadg
tov Ayiov Nwxoldov Tov Néov, PpioxeTar &evroc B1IOKTTOV XWPOV, O Omolog aviikel
omyv owoyévelx  Tov  aelpvnotov  Pulavtivoddyov  Anuntpiov  ITdAa.  Ovolaotiké  To
pvnueio  mapapévelt  &yvwoto ot ovyxpovr épevva kot PipAoypagpia. Xt XoAapiva
o efetalépevoc vadc  elvaw o  povadikoc  agepwuévoc  otov Aylo Nwoéhao TOo  Néo.
Ipoxertar  yix  Ttov  veopdptupa Nikdhao Tov ek Bouvaivng, o omoiog mpdranw otic 9
Moaiov. Apyw& xabiepaddnke w¢ Tomkde &ytoc e Oeoocahiog, oM&  apyodTEpX T TIUY
Tov Sddbnke kaw o A&Mec mepoxéc mC EAGSac. O vadc  povoxwpog, eowTeptk&
KOUOPOOKEMAOTOG  He  Tpix  ofukdpvpa  YopnAwpéva  TOEX, KOADTITETa — eEwTepik&  He
Sippix  xepapookems.  Tnv  Qpaia  IIVAn  mAauoidovovv 800  pappdplvec  TapXoTASEC
oe  HeTayevéoTepn xpron amd  oaradTioto  opxaio  KTiopa.  Xtov  Kuplwe vad T Svo
¢, pe  ep@aveic  Tovg  AagevTovc  BoAitec, Siapoppidvovv  Tpia  dvioa  Tpipata. Ot
oMemdAnAec  emepPdoelc, TOCO OTO  €0WTEPIKO, OCO KAl OTO ELWTEPIKO TOL VOO,
éxouv oAhowwoet Vv apxikny Tov popenr. Efwtepikd 1 toyomouo Sev  elvau  opati,
xabo¢  xoAUTTETAU  amd  TOANATAX  OTPOHAT  eMXplOpATOC, Ta omoia  Sdvoxepaivovv
TIC Hop@oloyikéc mapamprioec. H apxitexktovikr) Tov  pvnpeiov, pe kvplapxo oTotxeio
T Tpla  ofvkopvpa  xaunAwpéva  TOEa  mapaméumel oty mepiodo e DPpaykokpatiog
oto Vnol kal OVYKeEKPWEVX OTNV €MOXY KAT& TV omola kuplapxovoav oOTn  ZoAapive
ot Katohavoi, SnA. amd ta péoa Ttov 14 awwva éwc Tto 1388. H idpvon Tov vaod
tov Ayiov NwoAdov oT1o mapaboddooo Mmatol, ouVSEeTal e TNV OIKOVOMIKY|
evbuvduwon  Tov  VTOmoOv  aypotikoy  oToilxelov TV mepiodo  awT.  AVXOKAPIKEC
épevvec  meplpeTpik&  Ba EStvav Ta emmAéov amapaiT T OTOlXElx  Texunpiwomnc.
MoAovoTt 0 SIAKOOHOC  &ival  XTMOOTAOHATIKOG, T SIEKPION TPV  QAoE®Y  elval  oo@ng.
Meta€0  ToOUL TEPLOPIOUEVOV EIKOVOYPOPIKOV Staxoapov, evllpépov  Tapovotdlet
n map&otaon Tov ayiov NuwoA&ov ex Mvpwv  Avkiag, SvTikd TOv  TIHOUEVOVL  ayiov
(Bopetoc  Tolxoc). Me P&on  TeXVOTPOTIKEG TMAPATNPNOEIC  XPOVOMNOYE(TAl TO  QpPyOTEPO
¢c 1o 1600. O eyxdpaxteg evOupnioelc exatépwbev ™G pop@rc Tov ayiov amoteAovv
éuueon  HapTuplx yloo T ovvexny xprion Tov pvnueiov. Xipepa 0 ISIOTIKOC AUTOC VOGS

ovvexiCet va amoTeAel TpookOVNUA TOL aylov, SlaiTepa TPoa@AéC oTo VNot.
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